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PERSONAL HISTORY OF CHASE KEARL

So far as I know, Phyllis is the
only one of my family to have asked me to
write a short historv of mv life.

Chase Kear]

I have hesitated, first; because I
personally do not think of any incidents
that are of sufficient importance to
justify the effort; and second, if there
were I am not gualified to make a record
of them. However, since today. February
10th is my sixty-eighth birthday, I have
decided to write what I prefer to call a
"Historical Letter”, at least it does not
sound so ambitious; and so there will
follow some incoherent facts incoherently
expressed.

Before I write of my personal expeir-—
jences it seems appropriate that I write
briefly of my people. It may well be that
incidents in their lives could prove to
be more interesting than any in my own.
It may also develop that more of the
total space of this letter will be devot-
ed to their lives and experiences rather
than to mine.

My grandfather and grandmother
Eastham and their family were converts to
the Latter-day Saints Church while stiil
in England. They lived in Leeds for some
years prior to tneir immigration to the

By Chase i+ |

Grandmother - Jane Huntington
"states”. They seemed to have beer: i
fairly good circumstances financiai .

Grandfather - John Eastham

Their home was the home of many i .ders
over weekends and through hol. ‘ays.
Among those who came frequentl. was
Joseph Fielding Smith. My movher,

although only a child, became rather well
acquainted with him. Upon the de. h of
my grandmother Eastham, the Deseret iews

carried a short but favorable not..e of
her passing. President Smith saw - and
immediately wrote the family a let:ur of
condolences.
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My grandmother was very anxious to
immigrate to the States, but my grand
father who had a good position. as a
locometive engineer seemed not to have
been SO anxkious. However, when he was
offerad a position in the British East
Indies he said to grandmother, "If vou
will agree to my going to the East Incies
for two vears. I will then go to the
She agreed and being the wise,
sagacious womar that she was, proceeded
dguring those two years to get as many af
her married children into this country as
pussible, She reasoned that that sit-
uaticn would constitute and irresistibie
pull on grandfather if he should want to
remain longer in England for any reasort.
Actually that was about what happened.
During those two vears grandmother got
three married daughters located in this
country. I do not know when my mother
and her people left England, however it
must have been not later than September
1865 1in view of a circumstance in
connection with my mother’s thirteenth
nirthday which I will relate presently.
On twc or three occasions I had heard her
say that she had eaten her thirteenth
birthday dinner around midnight on
November 6, 1865, on top of 0ld Baiay,
which was a rather high mountain east of
Salt Lake. I had thought that strange
but hesitaved to ask her what were the
circumstances which brought about such a
situation, thinking it might be
embarrassing: however, I finally grew
bold enough to ask what was the cause for
such an unusual experience and this 1is
the story.

.
states .

These folks traveled in a sailing
vesssl from Englanga down around the
Florida Peninsuia, up the Mississippi
river to its confluence with the Miscoursi
and from there up the Missouri to what is

now St. Louis. In those days it was 1it-
tle more than an ‘“outfitting post.”
Here, grandfather Eastham bought two yoke
of good oxen and two good wagons which
were loaded and otherwise made ready for
the trip across the plains.

My Mofher,(Mer11n Eastham, when she was
about thirteen vears old.

Now this is the story told to me by my
mother. Traveling with wagons drawn Dy
two yoke of oxen, they reached the foot,
or base of 01d Baldy and soon after noon
on November 6&th. The road up the
mountain was ' long and steep and the
wagons were too heavily loaded to be
oxen.  They therefore left one wagor
temporarily and hitched the two yoke of
Oxen to the other wagon and proceeded to
pull it to the top of the mountain.
Grandmother and some other persons went
up with the first wagon and then whiile
the men folks went back to get the other
wagon drand mother proceeded to cook 4
very late (about midnight I was toid)
dirner to be eaten when the menfolks
reached the mountain summit with the sec-
ond wagon. I suppose grandmother made an
extra dish or two of something that was

Jintended to give the dinner the atmo-
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:nhere of a birthday party and called 1t
Mother's Birthday Dinner. This happened
an Nov. 6, 18650 (your arandmother was

norn Nov. 6. 1852,

The trip of my garandparents. my
mother and others of their company across
the “plains” was without incident except
that one niuht when they had reached tre
place where thev intended to¢ camp. they
found, written on the bleached out skul)
of some Buffalo long since dead, that a
company of immigrants had intended to
camp thersz the night before but had baen
Cattascked by a groun of Indians whe had
lassoed one white woman and had shot
seven arrows into her husband whiile he
tried in vain tc rescue her. The Indtane
carried her away. So far as is known she
was never heard of thereafter. This
story was written on the skulls together
with the suggestion to whoever should
reach there first, intending to camp,
might better continue their journey since
the hostile Indians might make an attack
the following nignt. After having read
what had hapoened there the night before,
my people decided to continue their
icurney although their progress was
«Towed down considerably.

After having reached Salt take City,
my oeople located in Grantsville where
they immediately made themselves
reasonably secure by opening & small
general store and developing a small
farm. Both of my grandparents on my
mother side died and were buried in
Grantsville, Utah.

we knew comparatively iittie of my
father’s pecple until acently when my
sister, QGrace, undertook to gather some
genealogy anc because we knew so little
5f fathers peopie. she selected that

The qfévé”of my Grandmother, Jane
Huntinaton in Grantsville.

The arave of my Grandfather,

John Eastham, in Grantsville.

“branch” to work on. She began the proi-
ect by writing letters to some of his
nephews and cousins, and also the Vicar
in the churches in the locality in Engl-
and in which he lived.

she also wrote civic @aroups and
newspapers. A1l of these people were
very coocperative and what started out as
a casual correspondence has deveoped
into a very warm and regular experiance.
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On o Lume seurce ol cither 1t was  suae
= cne  write to the wondon

Suiice force. When we Tearned that
fathers' peopie had been connected with
the great London law enfercemeant  and

orime detective agency, we didn’'t know
whether to drop the research effort or
not. we didn’t konow whether thev ware
members of the Poiice Force or were
apprehended culprits on their wav o a
nenitentiary. It desveloped, howevser,
that they had served o0 the Forge with

distinztion and hed renired with honor,

1343, we learned from
er clippings, photoarap-

as, ond ova ious other sources that these

peopte ware dnteltigert, ambitious  and
trustbwerthy.,  All of the evidence indi-
~ated that they were an honorasle people,

N

{cure had twe policies having to do
langd settleinent. The Tleaders of the
chiurch  had not forgotten what had
hancened in Paimyra, Kirtland, Far West,
Haure Mill, Independence, and Nauveco.
President Youngs policies were therefore:
firot, ger settlers into every valley and
upon every desireable piece of land i
the intermountain country to the end that
thare would not be a single area left
where cutsiders, who were sure to include
sore of our enemies, would want to
cettla. To accomplish his purpose, he
called a dozen or so families tec go into
theze more desireable areas, not matter
hiow remete. and proceed to take posses-
s10n and start to develop the locality.

The church in Brockenhurst. The village

in England where my father was born.

Father was a convert to the znurcn in
Enaland and came to this sountry in hig
carly manhocd, He settled in Grantsvilie
where he soon acouired the nucleus of 2
farming enterprize. in

<

s (1865) Presidert Brigham

Personal History of

My father, James Kear]

The seccnd, and a very important
reason. was to get rights established and
improvements under way so there might pe
s place for at jeast some of the converts
from Europe; a place where these people
miaht establish themselves and make a
Tivine for them and their families. Will
anvoene question the “wisdom”™ of these
important policies?
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There were ltarge depcsits of valu-
able ore 1n the nter-mountain regicn and
of course an abundance of 1t on the west
coast. some of the settlers wanted to
mine.

e

A view of the Bear Lake valley

President Young did not presums Lo
tell them they couldn’'t, but he dig te’l
tnem that if they proceeded to mine a fev
would become rich, but most of them wouid
remain poor. 1f, on the other hand, they
would devote themselves TO tiiling the
soil ang developinag  the 1vestock
business all of tnem would do well.

1 nhave understood that President
Young had a third policy affectina thiose
who were called to assist in settling a
locality. It provided that if one were
ralled to go to a locality for the pur-
pose of “settling” he might send a sub-
stitute by finding someone who wanted to
gu and proviaing him with a team of hor-
ses and a wagon. Under that provisicn,
my father was called to go into the &T.
George country, but found an acceptable
substitute. Father continued his activ-
1ties for a period of time in and about
Grantsviile. However, later he was cal-
led by Presidesnt Young to go into RBear

Lake Country and accordingly proceeded to
that place.

Round Valley where my Dad _had
his ranch and saw mill on big creek.

I am not sure that the statemuants
immediately above are true, but in any
event, Father was among the first sat-
tlers to go in the Bear Lake area. In
some respect it was an undesirable loca-
1ity in which to live. The floor of the

alley was more than a mile high (8012
feet). The drowing season for crops was
short. Often it froze every month in the
year. The winters were lona and ccld,
and it was quite remote from other
settled areas. It was, however, a dood
Tivestock country. The valleys and much
of the range had a good grass covering
and small to medium streams were ssat-
tered well over the range. (A good range
must have plenty of watering places.)
There was considerable wild life in the
area, namely black and brown bear, ceer,
antelope, coyote, gray and timber wolves,
mountain lions, lynx, bob-cats, otters,
and beaver. No grizzly bears OF elk
until the latter were brought into the
area about thirty years ago. The streams
and lakes abounded with several species
of fish, particularly trout.

My father died when I was twelve vear
5id. My association with nim over the
last half of those years together with
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enanies ne to
remember M very vividly, He was a
larue, ~uuaged individual. He possessed a
fine phtoysicue and tremendous physical
courane:. He was stern. and cold, and
matter-of- fact, almost austere. I never
I think he never did.
None of us children ever laughed in his
presence: but then there was not much to
laugh about 1n those days so it made 1it-
tle difference. Often he seemed to have
little or no watience or sympathy with an
I think he
peiteved literallv that “"man must earn

et 1rd wt oman he was,

saw him lauah.

individual o a conditicn,

his bread by the sweat of his brow”. On
a  wold  winter  day  you  could  wear
sweaters, coats and boots; but altl of
thase cone off before you started to lecad
hay. He evidently reasoned that if you
couldn’'t work fast enough, or hard enough
in ewsentially your shirt sieeves to keep
watm, vou desired to freeze!

Putting up hay.

when he laid out a job for us kids
to du, 1t was almost always once and a
nalf as much as we could ever nhope to
accomplish in a given time. In this reg-
ard perhaps all of vou will contend that
this was a trait tnat carried over to my
generation. Well, now that the work of &
family, as a famiiy., 13 all done; I res-
pectfully offer my zpoingies.

If he was home, father alwavs went to
church on Sunday. He always took me
along, that 1is if I had failed to make
the "hide-out”. Yes, Sunday was about
the only time we could hope to see the
“feilows” and have some fun. I never
heard my father offer a prayer, or preach
a sermon, or take part in a discussion.
I am sure he never did. He talked
little. Then, although the church has
not  chanded since those days, 1te
policies have. Young people never par-
ticipated in Sacrament Meeting as thev <o
today. There were no one hour meeting:
with two or more speakers, and at Teast
one musical number, The meetings were
usual two or more hours. The sermons
werierally lasted over an hour and thev

ware delivered by elderly men. Women

neve - zppeared on the program. As soon
as 1 e speaker was announced vyou knew
whether or not the sermon was to be an
hour or an hour and a half. You knew
alsc whether the sermon was to be "dry”
or semi-dry. Few of them were ever very
interesting to a boy sitting on a harc
nench and full of "wiggles”.

Tricse of you who read the foregoinu
may conciude that I am trying to indict
my father. Any such conclusion wculd be
entirely wrong. I respect him. He made
his contribution to the settlement of the
“west” and it was no insignificant con-
tribution. President Brigham Young was &
great colonizer in his own right but he
never could have been so great without
tne loyalty and assistance of men like my
father. He possessed a type of Kindnese
seculiar to himself only, and his "pius
side” weighed rather heavily against his
“snort comings”. He was an enterprising
»vpe of indivaidual.

ramember when I could not have been

i
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more than four or five years old, riding
on a wagon drawn by a ycke of oxen that
were driven by my older brother, Willis.
These animals were not the fish-backed,
long-legged, steers that you see occasi-
onally in this day on parade but rather
they were wide backed deep-bodied animals
each of which would probably weigh 1600#.
Father had two yoke and a yoke consisted
of two animals. One yoke were red (the
same color in horses is called a bay),
and their names were "Dick” and "Brady"”.
The other yoke consisted of a white
animal we called "Larry” and a spotted
one we called "Spot”. Oxen knew only
four commands; "Git-up” meant to go for-
ward; "Whoa" meant to stop; "Gee" meant
turn right; and “Haw” meant turn Jleft.
Well trained oxen always responded
without deviation to those commands.
Oxen, as a source of power on farms and
ranches, were well on their way out when
I took my first and only ride behind
them; but about that time, or shortily
thereafter, (and since I can first reme-
mber) my father replaced them with fine
purebred Percheron horses, also at that
early date he had Purebred Cotswold,

Ramboulette Sheep, and Purebred Shorthorn
cattle.

Father was always among the first to
buy various mechanical devices as they
became available. My mother said he was
frequently too eager to purchase such
equipment since often it did not work out
satisfactorily when put into practical
use on a six or seven hundred acre ranch.
I remember he brought the first Keystone
Hay Loader into the 1locality. This
machine was designed to pick up hay that
had been cut and raked into rows and
elevate it 1into a wagon. It worked
reasonably well but soon it was replaced
by a much improved "Back Hay Loader"”.

Father owned a half interest in a
threshing machine. This was powered by
six teams of horses. One team followed
another in a small circle and each was
hitched to a "sweep” which enabled one to
deliver 1its share, one sixth, of the
power to a central point. The total
power of the six teams was then trans-
mitted to the threshing machine. Until
the "machine” came into use people thre-
shed their grain with flails which was
entirely hand work and very hard work.

There were no doctors in Bear Lake
Valley in those days, neither were there
any dentists or hospitals. The nearest
were at Ogden and Salt Lake, and there
were no roads. Not withstanding, babies
were born in about the same proportion as
they are today. Teeth ached for the same
reason thatlthey ache today and legs and
arms were broken regularly.

Babies were born at home. Some good
woman, who from experience, had learned
how to render assistance under such con-
ditions. After the baby was born, mother
would go to the home each morning and
wash the baby and take care of the mother
until such time as the mother could take
care of the work. My mother assisted
hundreds of women in that manner and
under those primitive conditions, and I
am sure she never charged a "dime" for
the service.

Father seemed to have been naturally
endowed with some ability in the field of
surgery. He knew how to set, splint and
bandage a broken leg and right it if nec-
essary. He had some old forceps with
which he extracted aching teeth. Some of
mine went that way. There were no anes-
thetics available in that area in that
day. Father could not have administered
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them had the been any. If vyou wefe the
victim, you just grabbed something solid
and hung on. No charge was ever made.

Sone vyears after father had died I
was taking a load of produce to Evanston,
about fifty mile distant from Laketown.
Near noon I stopped beside the road near
a creek for the purpose of letting my
team of horses eat and drink for a few
minutes. There came to my wagon, an old,
old man bent and uncertain of his step.
His beard was long and white and his face
deeply wrinkled.
with a skeleton 1like hand. It was
evident that he had passed through a long
period of persavering and that the
elements had not been kind to him. When
he learn my name and that I was a son of
"Jim" Kearl, he said, "Young man, this
community will never forget your Fathers
kindness when people were battling
through a long and frightful siege of
diphtheria. He left hundreds of packages
of food on porches as he passed through
this community".

There was a good deal of moving abo-
ut in those days, always of course by
team and wagon. Normally it was a two
day trip from Cache Valley to the Bear
Lake Valley. The roads at best were
poor. Sometimes people Tleaving Cache
Valley in late October or November would
become “"snowed in". Often weather
conditions might be 1ideal until late
afternoon of any one day and still a foot
of snow be dumped down on you in one
night, then more feet of snow would fall
on them. (You New Yorkers will not
require proof that two feet of snow can
fall in one night - remember 1958). Even
in the absence of communication systems
as we know them today, people seemed to
have some knowledge of who was going

He clutched his cane

where and when; and it was not unusual
for Bishop Ira Nebeker, the Bishop of the
Laketown Ward, and the only Bishop for
thirty years, to call my father and say,
“Jdim, John Anderson and his family are
snowed in at the head of Blacksmiths Fork
River. Hustle up some men and provisions
and go get them." Father would get a
couple of other men who had good saddle
horses and who along with their horses
could "take it".

The Kearl Barn that also served as a

1ty social hall in Laket

He would the get fifteen or twenty
wild horses and drive them forward.
These animals, not wanting to climb the
steep side hills would follow along the
floor of the canyon; and not wanting to
go through the brush and trees heavily
weighted with snow, they would follow
through the open where obviously 1lay
whatever road there was. The wildest
horses would take the lead and when they
arew tired they would drop back and the
less wild, but fully confident would
become Tleaders. Thus a road was made
into the "snowbound"” travelers wherever
they were and they were brought out
safely. It is assumed of course, that
these “rescuers” knew thoroughly the
mountain area where the travelers were
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l1kely to be. I can testify that after
two or three years of traveling over a
mountainous country, one learned to know
every canyon and hollow and valley, small
or large, and spring and stream, and
cliff of rocks and individual trees if
they are unusual for and reason whatso-
ever. For instance, if it is unusually
large, if it is located at the head of a
canyon, or on the top of a ridge, etc,
etc, Father with his associates always
succeeded 1in getting the “snowbound”
pilarims out and on to their
destinations.

Mother in her middle vears.

Often men are heard to say, "My
mother 1s the best mother in the world.”
That always seemed to me to be discour-
teous and a bit uncharitable to others.
And as a matter of fact, it is not what
the fellow wanted to say. What he did
want to say was, “"that so far as I am
concerned, my mother is the best mother
in the world." On that basis, most of us
could declare our mother to be the best
mother in the world. I suppose the best
mother 1is she who is the most anxious
that her boy or girl shall grow up with a

strong physical body, a sound mind. and
possessed of fine principles and finally
one who does those things that contribute
most to that end. From a purely academic
standpoint, mother was not educated. The
fact 1is that she read everything she
could get hold of. She worked with many
people on constructive enterprises. As a
result, she came to be a well informed
individual of considerable learning. She
had a concept of the value of the
principles of ambition, honesty,
sympathy, kindness, courage, and
cheerfulness. She lived largely by those
principles. If mother embodied one
virtue more than another it was the fact
that she was always and under any cir-
cumstance a "peacemaker”, and I remember
Christ said on one occasion, "Blessed are
the peacemakers for they shall be called
the children of God." That is both a
distinction and an honor. She was
penurious to a fault. I can remember
very distinctly that as a 1little boy I
went, with my associates in the Primary,
directed by Primary officers and
teachers, into the fields from which a
wheat crop had been harvested and gleaned
many burlap bags full of wheat heads that
had been left. We would then take these
bags full of heads to the threshing mach-
ine wherever it was operating and get
them "“threshed”. We could end up with a
few bushels of wheat which was sold or
stored. May her 1life and work be
sanctified to the good of her children
and grandchildren and to all of her Kin-
smen to the last generation.
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After spending the first several
years of her married 1life raising a
family of ten children, 1living for the
most part on a ranch, cooking for Tlarge
groups of meri, milking cows and churning
butter to be sold at eleven cents per
pound; she was, for many years, President
of a Ward Primary, President of a Young
Ladies Mutual Improvement Association and
for many vears a councilor in the Ward
Relief Societyv.

Hazel w/ Russel on her knee. Spencer,
Delmar, Me, Cyril, and Bryant.
My family - in the '30

My mother when she was an old lady.

The Otter Creek Ranch was located ~ Russel, Spencer, Delmar, Bryant

about halfway between Laketown and Ran- Phy11is, Hazel, Me, and Cyril

dolph, which are sixteen miles apart. My family in the ’40s.
Late one cold bleak stormy afternoon in e
April, a family of immigrants came along,
headed for some point between Montpelier
and Soda Springs. Mother invited them to
stay with her over night. This
invitation they gratefully accepted.
Some of their children had what seemed to
be a minor throat ailment. The next
morning the travelers pursued their jou-
rney and a few days later some of my
brothers (I had not yet been born) and

sisters "came down” with that terrible Cyrii, BfUCe, Phy11is,'De1maf, Mari, Bry,
malady "diphtheria”. It raged through the Susan,Rodney, Jamie, Mary, Me, Hazel,
entire family. On May 7, Janette, my ten Rutl;. Robert, Kathy, Martin, Gary,
year old sister died:; and on May 16 Richard, Edward, Steven, and Kenny.
Robert, a three vear old brother died. My family in the ’50s.
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This paper will be brief. I want
only, from a heart felt gratitude, to
express as best I can in two or three
statements my sincere appreciation of my
children for what they are. To single one
out above another because I think he pos-
sesses more of the many virtues that are
a part of a fine character and possesses
them more abundantly, is impossible. I
think no man ever lived who was blessed
with as many as six children all of whom
had succeeded so well. They are fine and
clearn. They are ambitious and courteous
and resourceful. They are intelligent and
foyal, they are dependable  and
charitable. Relatively early in life they
have earned the love and respect and
confidence of their associates, and of
all good men and women with who they have
been associated. They have "honored”
their Father and Mother. Back of all this
there is the love and devotion of an
intelligent mother always solicitous of
their welfare. The other day I heard the
judge of a Juvenile Court say, “There are
no teenage delinquents in a house full of
love." i ? W

e

he was a gi

Hazel wh

YOUR MOTHER. To my own children:
where does your mother rate when compared
with the several people mentioned
specifically in this story? You would do
well to ask yourselves the 'question:

wWhere, and how has mother influenced my
1ife, and then govern yourselves accord-
ing to the answer.

Deep down in my heart I am sure
there is nothing in the world that in-
fluences a boy or a girls life as does
the wholesome love and affection of a

good mother, and most mothers are good
mothers.

Your mother is intelligent and in-
dustrious: and resourceful. She had faith
and integrity and loyalty. She is stern,
but sympathetic. Many of us wear our emo=
tions on the outside. Mothers is in her
heart. A1l through her 1ife she has coop-
erated fully and sacrificed much; all to
the end that you might have an
opportunity for self-development. Her
person habits are conducive to a fine
character and a challenge to all of us.
She 1is conservative when considering
herself and the contribution she has made
as a wife and mother; generous to a fault
when considering others. Her total effort
in the interest of the whole group is
without measure. I again repeat; in
rearing a family there is no substitute
for the love and devotion and affection
of a good mother.

Ha u lady.
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Through all the years you have been
with us it has been your good fortune to
have had Jjust that kind of a mother;
honor and respect her that you may Tive
long and abundantly in a good land. Now
with respect to myself and concerning my
date of birth, I shall take no one’s word
on that except that of my mother and the
“twins". The “twins” say they saw me
leave, and mother leftr a written
testimony that she knew I arrived.

The date was February 10, 1890. I
was born in Round valley, utah. Round
valley was a suburb of Laketown and re-
mains a suburb to this day. I was the
ninth in a family of ten children. The
first five or six years of my 1ife were
spent, I presume, in much the same manner
as the first five or six years of any
boys 1ife, toddling around, getting into
anything that was accessible, hanging
onto my mother’'s dress, always in the
way, accepting a mothers kiss as a cura-
tive measure for a pinched finger.

My father had some purebred Cotswold
sheep which were considered to be too
valuable to out on the range with the
regular herd, but rather they were kept
‘at the ranch and permitted to graze on
the "foothills”. Those were the hills
adjacent to the ranch buildings. During
the next five years, or a major part
thereof, it became my job to herd those
fifty to a hundred head of sheep. Those
old Cotswold ewes had legs nearly as long
as the average five year old boy and
could therefore get over the country
sometimes much faster than the "David” of
the current day. I had no horse, neither
did I have the "proverbial” dog. So the
job was quite a challenge. Day after day
I went intoc the nearby hills in the early

morning and spent the whole day "herding”
those unmanageable “pets” which I came to
hate. Some of the hours when they were
doing more grazing and less traveling, I
would look for tiny rocks that were
either unusual in color or structure.
Those were exceedingly lonely days for a
1ittle boy.

I am not sure when I was given the
job of herding horses, whether it was a
promotion or a demotion. It did, howev-
er, call for an animal to ride. Father
gave me a mule he loved, and one I hated.
Oone day I tied him, that is the mule, to
a pust along a wire fence and walked down
in a field about forty rods to a spring
where I could get a drink. The thick
hided mule rubbed his neck and shoulders
along the wire making some scratches.
None of them was anywhere deep enough to
get through his thick hide, however,
father came along and I was disciplined.
That’s the word that would be employed
today, but not in that day. If the mule
could have talked I think he would have
employed more justice on that occasion.

puring the years 1899, 1900, and
1901, my two older brothers, George and
John, had all of my fathers sheep under
lease; about one thousand of them. I
spent part of the summer of 1899 on the
range with George. He never left me
alone for long intervals or over night,
but it was fun to be with him. I usually
went for the horse each morning. The
horses would sometimes go as far as a
half or a mile away. 1 would follow
along, paths, or trails, hoping to see
fresh bear tracks and later the bear. 1
often saw the tracks freshly made, but
never saw the bear that made them. I
remember distinctly that I had no fear
when I saw the tracks, but on the con-
trary 1 was elated. 1 hoped to see Mr.
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Bear.

I am the little boy in the sheep
camp with the little puppy in his arms.

The 1lease having expired, Father
toock his sheep back in the fall of 1901.
In the spring of 1902, he went out on the
range as herder, or caretaker of his own
sheep. I am sure that was not necessary
from a money stand point. I think it had
been his 1ife and he enjoved it thorough-
ly. He took me with him which fact I
enjoyed not at all. We were camped on
the hills about three miles west of the
old ranch buildings and about six miles
west of Laketown on July 3rd. That night
we had made our bed down under a galaxy
of stars. The next morning we crawled
out from under a couple of inches of
snow. I didn’t mind the show. What I
had hoped for was to get to the ranch in
Round Valley and to my mother and my home
for July 4th.

About nine o’clock, the morning of
the Fourth, father said I might go home.
No question was raised with respect to
how I was going to get there or where I
would get fifteen or twenty cents to
spend. To have raised a question about
what was insignificant compared Lo
getting home may have resulted in father

changing his mind; then too, although
mother had very Tlittle money in those
days, (no one had much) perhaps she would
have ten or fifteen cents. No matter
what she might have saving it for, and
more particularly if it was something for
hetself, she would gladly forego that and
give the bit of changé to me.

In any évent to get home was my most
cherished hope. I'm sure when you read
this, whosoever you are, you will laugh,
and you will wonder if it were possible
for people to get along with so little
money. Well it was, and although money
was greatly desired, there were experien-
ces and associations that were more to be
desired.

I don’t know when I got back to the
sheep camp and its nothingness, probably
July 5th. I know I went back the same
way I came, on foot! During the next few

-days we moved farther away from the ranch

and nearer to what we designated as the
“summer range”, or timbered country.

In those days nearly every flock of
sheep, large or small, were infected with
a tiny microscopic parasite that caused
the sheep to lose its wool and of course
the wool was a valuable part of the
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. It was discovered that when sheep
ware wmade too <wim approximately sixty
feet rhrouah a solution of Time and =ul-

phar, thowe TittTe anomal o would die. 1t
was ustomary therefore to take herds of
sheep Lo a corrad built for Lnat vurpose
ang TJdip” tnem.  Ihe dipping corral was
alsa a goud place ta go when “John Doe”
was dipping his sheep if one had reason
to pelieve soime sheep he nad lost had

neen picked ug by "Doe”. We were located

back in the hiils about five miles from
Ruund vailey wheire nother was living.
Farly one morning, father Tleft in a
buckboard {a buckbhoard was a sturdy four
wheeled vehilie drawn by two horses and
at outtit that would stand a lot of hard
usdaged tu go to one of the "dipping
sorteis" Lwelve or fifteen miles away. I
was Lo take the herd of sheep, about fit-
teaen hundred of them, to a certain place
about four miles disilance. He expected
Lo get back i the aftternoon and pack up
our campine outfit and bring it to the
Tocality where T would be waiting.  As
was usual, I had nesther dog or horse and
about mid afterncon it began to rain.
Sheep e much more difficult to manage
in ard following a storm and especially
when they learn there i3 no dog around
and although they are dumb, they learn
from nstinct or some other way, and
Tearn quichly. My legs were no longer
than those of the ardinary tweive vyear
oid. I did the best I could and when
Father didn’t return and night came on, I
gathured them, the sheep, together,
walted until they had "bedded” down and
Lhen tegged off Lo Red fine Flat a coupls
of milss away, and where I knew Mort
Netobot wae camped. TU waes then pet e
riine o’clock P.M. . only a guess because I
had no watch, It was as dark as the
rroverbial stack of black cats. 1
followed an old creooked trail which I

could see only when a flash of lightninuy
occurred. Bushes, heavily Tladen with
rain hung over the path and as I bumpec
into them in the darkness I suddenly gol
another  shower  bath. I found Mort’:
camp. He and iz companion were in obed.
He gidn’t ask me if I had had supper, nor
did he ask me the next morning to eat
with him and generally a twelve year old
kid will go pretty hungry before he will
ask for anything. I went pretty hungry!
It is essential to get up at the peep of
day when you are on the range with a band
of sheep and so I was on my wav back to
ihe "head of Birch Hollow” by probably
four o’clock, By around ten o’clock A.M.
father had not returned. I hadn’t had
aiytiiing to gat since the morning beforse
and T therefore started to the Ranch,
about five miltes away.

{pave missing)

The Kearl Ranch on the West
side of Round Valley. .
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Father went home in September. He
hired a man to stay with me and on
October 4, 1902 he died very suddenly.
The next summer I began to “hire out”.
I think my first job was picking up
potatoes for Willis Johnson for twenty-
five cents per day. The richest I ever
have been was on the occasion when after
an eight months period, I was then prob-
ably fourteen, and those of you who have
seen that very beautiful photograph of
a range sheep outfit and the 1ittle boy
who is hanging onto the "pup”, will know
how big I was, cause that’s me and that
was the year I had hired out to the N.
M. Hodge@ Land and Livestock Company, a
big outfit, some thousands of acres of
hay, grain, and pasture lands; other
thousands of acres of range land, prob-
ably 3,000 head of sheep, a couple of
hundred head of cattle and probably one
hundred horses, which were a real factaor
in thuso daye.

Mr. Hodges was a very short, very
heavy set, and a very fatherly; a real
fine gentleman. I went to work for him
the first of March and continued on the
job until November 1st, eight months.
The wages were to be twenty dollars a
month. During the eight months I had
drawn against my wages $20.00. From that
$20.00, I bought my mother, so she said,
(not her first sugar, of course,) but
her first full 100# bag of sugar. I
probably cost $4.00,

After Mr. Hodges had written a
check in ny favor for my total earnings,
$160.00 less $20.00, or $140.00 and gava
me a Father’s blessing, which was his
habit, and the blessing incidentally
consisted of "“this is the kind of a
young man I like to see, one who will
save his money,"” he handed me the check.
It was ten miles from the Hodges, Ranch
to Laketown which distance in this case

had to be covered on horse back and it
required normally about three hours to
make the trip. During those three hours
I was unable to get my mind off the
sizeable check. As a matter of fact, I
dragged it out of my pocket about every
three hundred yards and read every line
carefully. Strange, I do not remember
the Bank upon which the check was drawn,
however, that was not important. What
was important was that some bank was
instructed to pay me a huge sum of one
hundred and forty dollars. '

I don’t know what I did with the
$140.00. I know I didn’t squander it.
Although where or how I spent it was
probably the most important aspect of
the whole experience it seemed to me at
the time that to have earned and to
possess that much money at one time was
the most important thing - the apex of
my life.

/ M.e Loh

4

———

M 0 i

School was important in that day,
but we never hoped to get to school
except in a smattering way between Nov.
1st and Mar 1st, and I doubt that I ever
attended for a solid week straight.
Father always had too many livestock to
be fed and otherwise taken care of.
Except for the incident mentioned above,

I can think of nothing of importance
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that happened between 1902 and 1912
except that I was called on a mission
and was expect to take some weeks of
Lraining at a church school.

A Missionary Picture.

I attended the Fielding Academy in
Paris, Idaho for that purpose in the
winter of 1911 and 1912. A tragedy
happened and a most sorrowing experience
enveloped all of us in April of 1912
when my sister, Ethel, a thoroughly good
and Tlovely woman, died after having
given birth to her second child.

In October of 1912, I left home to
perform a mission in the Northern Stat-
es, Headquarters, Chicago; President of
the Mission, German E. Ellsworth. Since
that time the several states have been
divided into several missions.

I was asked to go to the Minnesota
Conference, which consisted of the State
of Minnesota. I was first located in St.
Paul, later in Minneapolis. The meeting
place was in a rented hall at 1730 Univ-
ersity Avenue. That location was midway
between St. Paul and Minneapolis and

could be reached for a nickel street car

fare from either city.

There were probably a dozen active
members, hence the location of the meet-
ing place. 1 was kept two and one half
years. I returned to Salt Lake for the
April Conference in 1915,

Me _and a couple of my companions.

Many interesting events took place
during those thirty months. I saw the
membership grow until we had a substan-
tial branch in both St Paul and Minneap-
olis. We had purchased a fine church at
240 North Grette St., St. Paul. The
location was in a fine residential dis-
trict and we were negotiating for a
church building in southeast Minneapolis
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when I wasz released ftrom my minsion.

Your Mother and I. Hazel was on a mission

here in Minnesota and it was here that
we met.

when I left for the mission field
1 had about $600.00 which together with
some money sent to me by friends and
relatives enabled me to perform the
thitty monthe mioton, but 1 came home
Lo ol e The: tesnder ol thibn will wornde
how »o lilLlle money wenl oo far. Pirst,
one could rent a good room for $10.00 a
month, second, one could buy a good
dinner for 45-60 cents and you were not
supposed to spend either time or money
for sight seeing, socializing, traveling
outside of your district. However, one
could, and I did see the following Tive
dramas, "Ben Hur" chariot race with real
horses and all for ten cents. I saw it
as well as “Joseph and His Brethren”.
with live camels, The Blue Bird with
Maurice Materlink. Live children by the
dozens, Miss Wiggs of the Cabbage Patch,
4 moving train acruss the country on the
stage, David Harum, a real horse talking
uly the step, etc.

My missionary experience empha-
sized the value and importance of an
education and I therefcre came home
determined to go to school. Between
April 1st and Sept 20th I worked on a

ranch for $50.00 per month. Early in
O Lober, with $300.00 mother and T went
from Laketown to Logan and set up house-
keeping in two rooms which we rented. My
older brother, Willis and Morton assist-
ed me in getting a little furniture to
Logan and some supplies.

Ma al UtLah Ytale,

At the Utah State College, I was
able to get the equivalent of one year
of High School deferred after my short
missionary course at Fielding Academy
and credit for "0ld Testament® were
considered and a bit of liberalism
thrown in. With that material I went to
Dr. F. S. Harris, head of the School of
Agriculture. He looked the credits over
and I summoned all the courage I could
command and said, "Dr. Harris, how long
will it take me to graduate from this
school?” He said, "Well, you have one
year of High School: you need three more
years of High School and four of col-
lege. Looks like about seven Years.”
Nearly twenty-six years old, must 9o to
school seven years and had $300.00.

shall I go or shall I not? I now
must make my first major decision. I
decided to undertake what seemed to me
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at the time an over-whelming task. I
proceeded to register and then had to do
something by way of supplementing my
$300.00. I proceeded to get a job sweep-
ing out the "0l1d” Art Department. I was
allowed two hours per day and was paid
fifteen cents per hour. I don’t think
any other experience had taught me how

Lo <tudy, hut in this instance necessity
Jdid.

At Utah State University.

1 made good grades through the
yvear. As a matter of fact, during the
several years I attended I never turned
in any kind of paper and got a mark
below a “B". My marks were good enough
that I was not required to take the
final examination. This was a real
"break"” since I was able to get to work
earning money for the next year about
ten days earlier than I would otherwise.
Now the question was that since I had
decided to go back to Bear Lake and work
on a ranch, it would take about seven
dollars train fare if I should go to
Montpelier by train,then I would have to
pay one night Hotel bill, probably two
dollars in those days, and then pay me
stage fare to Laketown. (Someone was
carrying the mail daily between Montpel-
jer, Idaho on the Union Pacific R. R. tc
Evanston, Wyoming, also on the U.P.) My
father carried mail over this route,
ninety miles, in the very early days. It

was carried then by teams of horses.

Four span, that 1is, four teams, were
employed each day to cover the ninety
miles. It is now carried by automobile.
Incidently, 1 1ived at Laketown about
halfway between the two points. The
stage fare was probably two dollars and
then there were meals, (My board was
included with my wages as soon as I got
on Lhe dob) . Another dollar and (ifty
cents. I think that adds up to $12.50.
To have gone to Bear Lake by way of
Ogden to Evanston by train and from
Evanston to Laketown by stage would have
added up to about the same thing. Anot-
her thing vitally important in those
days of tight finances was the fact that
it would have required two days to reach
my destination by train and stage, and
only one day if I walked over the moun-
tain. I had a job waiting for me at
$50.00 per month. That’s $1.66 per day
and the $1.66 was quite a factor when
matched against an empty pocket. 1 have
mentioned two ways to get from Logan,
Cache Valley to Laketown, Bear Lake
valley, but neither of them was an al-
ternative since I didn’t have $12.50.
What was the alternative? To walk the
distance between Logan and Laketown,
about forty miles, and that’'s what I
did. However, if I had had the money I
still would have walked the distance
since I saved one day at $1.66, which
when added to the $12.50 made that day
worth $14.16. (It would be a great joke
if you were to discover that my math-
ematics was in error). That was almost
a third of a months salary and of course
by all odds the best paid day I had. To
make this trip, skies were indispens-
able. I therefore procured two pieces of
1x4x6'. 1 thinned them down about two
feet from the end, tied them in a bent
position and steamed and bent and steam-
ed and bent until I finally had about
the right bend. I then began to dry them
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out and applied many coats of oil. They
finally became a pretty decent kind of
ski.

In making the trip over the moun-
tain range, I reached some points of
elevation above 8,000 feet. Some of the
ascents were so steep that it was neces-
sary to tie a small rope around the ski
and with the knot on the bottom side.
The knot would penetrate into the snow
far enough to provide traction. The knot
was removed when I was going down the
side of a hill. I sat straddle of a
stick which served as a brake. If I
wanted to slacken my speed I applied
more weight on the stick. The whole
experience was so satisfactory that I
used the same methods the following
year. I returned to Bear Lake only two
summers.

Beginning with the third year I
remained in Logan and worked for Dr.

George R. Hi11 on some potato disease

projects. Dr. Hill was head of the Bot-
any Dept. I did considerable work for
Iﬁmjntm field in the summer and in
the laboratory in the winter. There was
considerable lab work to do. Dr. Hill
said, "Chase, you know what there is to
do so you may therefore put in all the
time you want.” The rate for that kind
of work was forty cents per hour and by
working Saturdays I was able to earn an
average of about one dollar per day. No
dollars were ever more precious.

In October of 1916, your mother
and I were married. That first year we
lived in a two room apartment and
enjoyed the winter very much. She took
a few classes at the college and I took
more than a full course. I wanted to
reduce the total time required for grad-
uationas much as possible and I.
therefore petitioned for extra courses

at the beginning of each semester. The
result was that by April 1st of my fifth
year at Utah State I had all of my re-
quired work done except a course in
English which was 1listed as current
novels, and incidentally I had not turn-
ed in a paper of any kind ...reports,
summaries, quizzes or examinations that
were marked below a "B".

I had sung in the College Glee Club
during the several years I attended
college. We had a very. decent kind of
club and it was customary to make a
short trip once a year .into Southern
Idaho or down through Utah. (One year
we went as far south as St. George). We
would sing at the local high school once -
or twice during the day of our visit,
generally without charge, and then give
a program in the evening open to the
public and for which we made a very
nominal charge. The whole thing was
really a method of advertizing the
"college”". We always had a lot of fun
and would also provided the people in
the various communities a fine program.

Late in March of 1920, the Logan
Rotarians were going to attend a conven-
tion of the District 12 of Rotary at
Boise, Idaho. They asked us to go along
as entertainers with expenses paid, of
course we quickly accepted the invita-
tion. We performed most satisfactorily
in the judgement of all who heard us, so
well as a matter of fact that the twelf-
th district consisting of the Rotarians
in the Utah, Idaho and Montana invited
us to be their guest at the Internation-
al Rotary Convention to be held in At-
lantic City, during the last part of
June, all expenses paid. (About $600.00
per man). This was of course an unusual
offer. The Club consisted of six men to
a part, or twenty-four men and an accom-
panist, William Petersen, new in the
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music dept. of the U.of U, and C. R.
Johnson, a fine musician and a fine
gentleman and director.

For the trip the club was cut from
twenty~-four to twenty and we left Logan
about June 15th. The routing was:
Denver, St. Louis, Chicago, Washington
0. C., Philadelphia, Atlantic City,
Jersey City, Newark, New York, Chicago
and Ogden. We started with about three
cars and soon had a train load. From
Chicagc there were two special trains.
In every city of any importance we were
guided to everything of historical sig-
nificance or otherwise. That is, every
club in its own bajliwick seemed to see
to it that we got a glimpse at least of
gverything interesting and fine. We saw
the Gettysburg Battlefield, Vvailey
Forge, Barbara Fritchies flag hanging
out of the window and I think it was
Fredricksburg. Betsy Ross’ home, Mount
Vernon, and as a matter of fact every-
thing of interest. We sang in the finest
hotels and amusement houses in the coun-
try. Traymore Hotel, Atlantic City and
Terrace Gardens, Chicagc, as an example.
Every group of Rotarians had its enter-
tainers (1920 was in the period of
Jazz). The Chicago group took with them
two famous high school bands with about
forty members each: Joliet and Rockford.
There were male and string quartets,
jazz bands, actually all kinds of per-
formers and every day and night on the
train we would build up a fine show by
taking as 1ittle as one member from each
group. At the close of the convention
in Atlantic City, the New York Rotarians
invited us to be their guest for three
days. Guides showed us the city and
“cabs” were parked in front of the hotel
to take us anywhere we wanted to go - no
charge of course.

One day we were taken up the Hud-

son by boat. We passed West Point and
stopped at a resort, Bear Mountain State
Park, a lovely place. We made only one
stop of any importance on our way home,
that was at Chicago. We reached Ogden on
July 2nd and sang in Salt Lake on July
4, 1920. That was my last appearance
with the Club.

Now I must catch up on money mat-
ters, always a problem to some of us. In
1918 the country was stricken with a
terrible ’flu’ epidemic, and where as
the college should have begun its
instruction in on September, it did not
begin to hold classes until after the
Christmas Holidays. I was offered a job
in Bear Lake directing the work in con-
nection with the operation of a steam
driven grain separator or thrasher. My
job consisted of keeping all of the

.machinery in good running order and

supervising the moving of the thrasher
from one farm to another. For that I
received $5.00 per day and board. That
was a stupendous daily wage in that
time. The work lasted until sometime
after the first part of November. When
I had finished there I went to Logan
where I met Hazel, (my wife, your moth-
er, and for nineteen of you, your grand-
mother). Del Mar; Spencer had not yet
been born. I got a “job" at the Edwards
Furniture Store at $50.00 per month and
worked there until Dec 31st. Class room
instruction was begun at the college
immediately following New Years. Mr.
Edwards offered me a job when summer
vacation started, but I then was plann-
ing to work for George R. Hill of the
Botany Dept. As I remember, he gave me
$75.00 a month. I don’t think of any-
thing important happening except the
birth of Spencer, until 1920 and the
most important incident in that year was
my graduation and securing a job; those
two experiences were much more important
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than the trip to Atlantic City.

j c a a
Hazel didn’t have a dress good enough

to attend the ceremony,

When it was evident that I would
be graduated with the class of 1920, I
proceeded to place an application for
employment (you see work was just jobs
until I was graduated and then the same
thing became more dignified and was
spoken of as employment). While at Boise
with the Glee Club mentioned previously,
I went to the Extension Division of the
University of Idaho, which was located
at Boise, and filed an application for
employment there. Upon my return to the
campus, I saw a notice on the bulletin
board that I call at the office of Dr.
R. D. Evans. I did and so and the
Doctor, who was head of the Utah Exten-
sion Service offered me a ’position’
(more dignity) as county club agent in
Cache County if I could make myself
available by April 1st. I immediately
contacted Prof. N. A. Pederson to Tearn
if I might take the position and write
a report on the half dozen current
novels. He agreed and I began work on
April 1ist, 1920, at $1,800,00 per year.
Only July ist I received a wage increase
of $100.00, which of course gave me
$1,900.00 per year. I was very happy

with what I thought was a "“good break”
after we had given so many years without
much and anticipated better and more
"lucrative days".

Our first car,

The work as 4-H Club Leader re-
quired that I travel over all parts of
Cache County and that made it necessary
for me to get a car. I couldn’t think of
buying a new one, the price would be out
of sight: so looked for a used car and
found an old Dodge at the Blair Motor
Company for $800.00. I had two or three
hundred. Don’t know where it came from,
but I needed an additional $300.00 and
accordingly went to the Thatcher Bros.
Bank. Mr. Hatch listened to my story and
then said, “Mr. Kearl, I know of your
people and such knowledge as I have is
very favorable. I don’t for a minute
question your integrity, but we are
obliged to take care of our old custom—
ers and that will take all of our res-
ources. We will not, therefore, be able
to take any new business.” I left there
with less faith in banks and bankers.

I went back to the Blair Motors and
said to Seth Blair, "Mr. Blair, if I buy
that car you are going to have to take
my "note" for $300.00". He said, “Fine,
we’11 take your note“. A few days later
I came home and there was a letter in
the mail box with a Thatcher Bros. Bank
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return address on it. I thought, well,
I guess they are going to let me have
the money and they are advising me to
that effect. I opened it rather hurried-
1y and discovered a short note advising
me that the Thatcher Bank held the note
that I had given to the Blair Motors,
and therefore when it was due I should
"come to the Barik and settle same”. Now
all my faith in banks and bankers was
gone and I heard myself muttering as 1
walked to the house, "don’t worry boys,
the money will be there.” I have always
paid my bills and paid them on time.
There have been thousands of them, but
I can’t think of one that I so thorough-
Ty detefmined tc pay promptly as I did
this one. Later, I walked into the bank
about two days befeure the note was due,
walked straight across to the “notes
payable"” window, shoved the money across
the counter, pi-ked up my note marked
“paid” and left. Yzs, I walked as if I
owned the bank ind I said hello to no
one. My, oh my, how stupid can a man be.
I suppose that the trouble with me was
the fact that not until some months
after that incident, if I had gathered
every dime I had from every pocket I had
and laid it down on a bank counter, the
cashier couldn’'t have seen it , and I
was ready to graduate from a college, at

least I thought I was, and all others -

agreed that I had in a very splendid way
met all the requirements for graduation.
I am wondering if I had spent half of
those five years 1in studying college
texts and performing laboratory exper-
iments and the other half discounting
notes and performing other related ser-
vice downtown I might not have had a
more useful education.

During the summer of 1920, I got
a pretty fair 4-H Club program under
way. I had sugar beets, poultry, dairy
calf, sewing and baking clubs organized.

e and a Jers calf

In the late fall of 1920 the Idaho
Extension Service offered me the posi-
tion of County Agent in Bear Lake Coun-
ty. Neither the country with its high
elevation and consequently cold long
winters, or the lack of diversity of
crop production appealed to me, but the
extra three hundred dollars per year
did.

Paris - Count e of Be Co .

Accordingly I secured a railroad car
at an immigrant rate and we proceeded to
load our few pieces of second hand fur-
niture into it, together with a cow, a
two year old heifer and a couple of
dozen chickens. I gathered up my over-—.
coat and lantern and the cows, the chic-
kens and left Logan about 4:00 P.M. on
that cold January day. Mother, Del Mar,
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and Spencet were to leave Logan by train
the next dav. I reached Soda Springs and
knew the train carrying them would be
along about 2 P.M. When it came, I
jumped on 1t and left the car, the cow,
and the chickens to come on in, which
they did the next day.

The people at Paris were very kind
to us and assisted us in getting establ-
jshed in a house that was at least as
good as the average in the community.

The first hdgég.ug ljygg in_in Paris.

what proved to be our first con-
cern after we reached Paris with its
heavy snows and below zero temperatures
was the fact that within two weeks both
Del Mar and Spencer came down with
“whooping cough”. The neighbor children
in Logan had been victims of the ail-
ment from the fall (Sept.) and we had
successfully managed to keep our child-
ren away from them until we began to
prepare to move to Bear Lake. We thought
that any danger to contact the disease
had gone by, but it hadn’t. Within a few
days both of ihem developed the symptoms
and then the disease. However, it just
ran its natural course and cleared up
satisfactorily. The second worry and
what proved to be the one of most con-
cern was to come. The Law providing for

Extension Work to be administered by the
State Agricultural Colleges and carrying
an appropriation to be partially off-set
the costs passed the national congress
in 1914 (incidentally, the Michigan
State College was the first Agricultural
College in the nation to employ a county
agent as provided for in the bill). The
American People being such good spenders
of first, the other fellows money,. and
second, there own money, proceeded most-—
1y in 1919 as far as Idaho was concerned
to put a County Agent and a Home Demons-
tration Agent in practically every coun-
ty in the state; assistant county agents
in some counties and some specialists in
crops and livestock in a few counties.
Then, as if that policy was not dumb
enough, a conference of this army of
recently employed people was to be held
in Boise in the summer of 1920. Even
those practices were not stupid enough;
the people organized a caravan consist-
ing of all the agents from Freemont
County south to Bear Lake county, west
to Twin Falls country starting to Boise
in county and state owned cars having a
"jolly good time along the way", and
exhausting the housing and eating facil-
ities in the small communities along the
way, but nevertheless, having a lot of
fun. There were no agents in Bear Lake
County when I went there on January 1,
1921. D. L. Sargant had been there for
a few months in late 1920, but had left
and gone to Cedar City to teach 1in the
Branch Agricultural College. He may have
seen "the handwriting on the wall”. The
Armistice was signed on November 11,
1918. Some inflation continued however
through 1919 and 1920. However, the
trend in prices was downward and wool
that could have been contracted through
1920 and as late as November 1921 for 70
cents a pound, sold in 1922 for 6 cents
a 1b. (This is important because later
I will cite an example of what seemed to
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be defeat at the time actually proved to
be a great blessing).

Extension work was financed from
three sources: one the Federal Govern-—
ment paid for State Supervision and
$50.00 per month <n salaries; two, the
state paid part of the salary, not howe-
ver the same amount on Salary, but the
total amount paid =11 agents was govern-
ed by approprizaticn; third, the county
provided a car for use in the work, paid
other expenses and part of the salary,
total amount also governed by appropr-
iation.

I landed 1n iear Lake County about
January 10, 19z1. I had left a reason-
ably good job itu take a better one in
point of Salary ii it lasted. The Idaho
State Legislature met in January 1921.
It got around to considering the budget
for Extension wori. in February as did
also the Boards of County Commissioners.
Times were not so bad, but still tough,
as the result of the reduced prices on
farm commodities, especially, for we
were in a mild depression. '

The Board of County Commissioners
and the State Llegislature could not
overlook that faci, neither couid they
forget the "caravan” and when they got
done applying the ax to the appropr-
jations for Extension, there were no
specialists, no assistant county agents,
no county club agents, no Home Econom-—
ist, and only six county agents of which
I was one. I had earned (I don’t know
whether I earned it or not) about $1,40~-
0.00 while working in Cache County. I
~naturally paid the Thatcher Bank, I had
paid to Dr. G. R. Hill $100.00 borrowed
money. I suppose I spent $100.00 on the
Glee Club trip, anvhow I had enough to
get into Paris, Idaho, but not enough to
get out. so it was my good fortune to be

one of the six agents to "hang on”".

I was in Bear Lake County ten years
at the end of which I believed I had
developed a pretty sound program and had
done a good deal on it. Major aspects
of the program were: Dairy Development,
Pcultry ( eggs), Turkey Production and
Marketing, Cooperative Marketing other-
wise and Rodent Control.

At the end of eight years I ind-
icated to J. H. Reardon that I wanted to
be transferred to a county with a more
desireable climate, better roads, grea-
ter diversity of crops and more people.
I was told that I had given satisfaction
in both the matter of getting along well
with the people and accomplishing a fine
volume of work. I was promised that
where as some one or more people had to
battle with county commissioners every
year to get an appropriation for Exten-
sion Work, that had not been true in my
case and that it was a fact that approp-
riations were made in Bear Lake County

" without difficulty.

We ha h

I was rated as one of the best
agents and should have been transferred
to a more desireable county. (I was
getting the highest salary paid,
$1,850.000). However, counties opened up
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and I was not asked if I wanted one of
them, the reason was said to be because
I was getting along so well in Bear
Lake.

The Qogngy Agent.

It was customary for the agents in
South and South-eastern Idaho to spend
one day in Mid-summer at the Aberdeen
Experiment Station. We were there in
July of 1930, at which time I told Mr.
Reardon that because I was still in Bear
Lake, I was handing in my resignation
effective as of Dec. 30, 1930. Again I
was told that my work was satisfactory
and that I rated at the top in the Tist
of Idaho County Agents, however, by this
time I had begun to question the sin-
cerity of both Mr. Iddings and Mr. Rear-
don. (How often a man can be wrong and
how wrong). '

Mr. Benson, Ezra T., had worked as
County Agent in Franklin County for some
yvears, probably two, he had been offered
a job at the State Office as Farm Man-
agement Specialist, was getting $2,400.-
00 in Franklin County and would stay for
$2,700.00. The county did not want to
put up the $300.00 and the state could-
n't since if they transferred me they
would need to transfer $300.00 of state
money to Franklin to give me $2,700.00,
which amcunt I had said I would take. I
preferred to sacrifice $150.00 per year
since I believed there was that much

satisfaction to be had by the transfer.

Also, by this time I had bought a small
farm out from Logan a few miles, which
I could supervise better from Preston
than from Paris.

Me and my sons Cyril and Spencer on the
farm.

Ezra T. left for Boise about the
middle of August and that left the coun-
ty open. In August, Mr. Rearden asked me
to meet with himself and the Franklin
County Commissioners in early September.
I did so. Other conferences were had
between State people and the Franklin
County Committee.

I saw Mr. Reardon at the Eastern
Idaho Fair in early October. He again
went over his appraisal of myself and my
work, none of which I believed. (How
wrong can a man be). At that time he
doubted that they would get an agent in
Franklin County and in the event they
didn’t, was I determined to leave the
service. By now I was determined to
leaves so I told him I would like to go
to Franklin County, but definitely did
not want to remain in Bear Lake County
beyond the end of the year, Dec. 31,
1930.

There were no further developments
and on January 1, 1931, I was out of a
job. Not wanting to move to Logan and
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then back to Prestcn if the job at
Franklin did materialize, I remained in
Paris through January. Toward the end of
that month therc  ame to me a $50.00
check from the unve - nment and $135.00 (a
check from the Id:no Extension) for I
think a total of $1%5.00. I got in touch
with Mr. Reardorn t say the checks had
peen received ‘.t that they were not
mine and what shwouid I do with them. He
again said that 1 hud done a fine job in
Bear Lake County, that they in the State
Office appreciated it, that I may think
I would not do any Extension work after
Dec.  31st, but that I had been doing
Extension work tiirc.igh January and would
continue to do it as long as I was in
Paris. Mr. Rearcon said they had pur-
posely arranged tou have the check come
to me and if they had had control of
that part of the county appropriation
marked for salary they would have sent
that too. That of course made me feel
"mighty” good; not the money, although
it was gratefully received, but rather
the fact that they appreciated my effort
through the yvears. Mr. Reardon said they
were holding a district agents meeting
at Pocatello on rebruary 7th and would
1ike to have me attend. 1 appreciated
the invitation anc¢ attended.

I was informad at Pocatello that
on Feb. 11, Mr. Barner, Reardon’s assis-
tant whom I alwave thought was a poor
administrator ard ! think what happened
during the next ‘ew days proved the
point. Shortly afrer Feb 11. 1 had a
letter from Mr. Ba:ber, mailed to me at
Logan where I had gone. He stated that
when they got around to considering
Extension work the commissioners became
hostile and abcut threw him out of their
office, and that trey were coming down
to Logan to see within the next few
days. It was known nefore M. Benson left
in August that if ‘e left and if I were

satisfactory to the Franklin County
Commissioner, that I would be transf-
erred to Franklin County and receive a
$2,800 salary. Benson had said he would
stay for $2,700.00, but the county woul-
dn't increase their budget by $300.00
and they couldn’t understand how, if I
were transferred there the State would
increase the allocation to Franklin
County by $300.00 which together with
$2,400.00 would give me the $2,700.00,
but there was not state money to incr-
ease Benson from $2,400.00 to $2,700.00.
This situation and the fact that Dean
Iddings and Mr. Reardon were quite in-
sistent (so the Franklin Commissioners
said) that I be appointed had made them
mad. They thought that they were being
dictated to. One other factor that
aggravated the situation was the fact
that included in the group of applicants
was a local man whom they felt that they
would 1ike to employ. Ezra Benson was
one of the exceptions. There was jus-
tifiable reason for employing Ezra which
is another story and has nothing to do
with this instance.

Two or three days after the Feb.
11th meeting, Mr. G. L. Wright and Mr.
Luther Fife came to Logan to see me.
Neither of them actually Tlooked very
friendly, but that didn’t disturb me. I
had a few sheep and cattle on the place
and was when they arrived, working on a
fence. After a rather formal greeting
Mr. Wright said, "Well, Mr. Kearl, it
doesn’'t look as if you will starve if
you don’t get that Franklin County job."
I answered that I believed I would make
it alright.

Then he said, "Mr. Kearl, we want
you to know that we are not opposed to
you being appointed County Agent for
Franklin County. Since last August we
have checked your work 1in Bear Lake
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County, as well as the manner 1in which
you got along with the people. You made
a splendid record there and are well
liked by tre people, but we feel in this
case that we are being pushed around by
someone who is obliged to employ you and
we object to that!" I said to him, "Fir-
st, I want vou to understand that I left
the Extension Service of my own choice.
I am not obligated to anyone. Neither is
Mr. Iddings or Mr. Reardon obligated to
me 1in any sense of the word. If they
persist in keeping me name at the top of
the list of applicants, it is because,
I presume, they feel that I can give you
full satiszfaction as a county agent, but
théy are ri-t obligated to me. Therefore,
from now or in any further consideration
you give to this matter, keep in mind
that neither Iddings nor Reardon has any
obligation to me and that the Extension
Service will approve anyone of the first
three names on a list that you desig-
nate. In so far as the $300.00 addition-
al salary is concerned, that they were
going to bring into Franklin County, if
1 were transferred, it is part of a
state appropriation all of which is not
allocated to counties, but not equal
amounts in each county. If I remained
there the $300.00 would remain there. It
would not be available for transfer
however ii I did not move. An agent
would place in that county on a starting
salary of $2,200.00 or $2,300.00 and the
money could then be transferred and
become part of my salary of $2,700.00.
At that point Mr. Wright said "That’s
all we want to know. When can you start
in our county?” 1 said, "When do you
want me?” He answered, "As soon as pos-
sible,” [ said, "Would March 1st be
satisfactory. He said that it would be.

I asked him about the $300.00 they
had taken out of their budget‘and he
said that it was done in the absence of

full knowledge on their part, that the
budget had been approved and that the
law wouldn’t let them change it but that
it would be put back the following year.
Since I had been told that the commis-—
sioners would not approve a county agent
salary in access of $2,400.00 no matter
where it came from, he said they would
approve the highest salary I could get
no matter where it came from. And so in
ten minutes a matter that had dragged on
for three months and caused considerable
misunderstanding and bad feelings was
cleared up.
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However this dsiav was of littie conseguence compared with the satisfaction on my
part to have sc tully demonstrated the lovalty of the two men, Dean Iddings and Mr.
Reardon with whom 1 had worked for ten vears. 1 had begun to guestion the loyalty and
the expression on tne part of both of these men on several occasions, that is that

my work had beer 1io:t satisfactory over a ten vear period and that they both desired
that I remain 11t t12 Service. The whole experience also points up the fact that one
can be grossly in =rror in reaching a conclusion not matter what the evidence might
be and that one cshould be slow to reach any conclusion in matters where personal

integrity 1s inv.lvad, Perhaps we would do well in such cases to reach no conclusion.

B S g
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412. M street, Preston, about 1940, Looking north. An old Will Rogers movie is on at the Isis.

I reported for work on the morning of March 1, 1931.I continued on the job for

eleven years. Those years were for the most part pleasant years. Not until the "New:
Deal Farm Program” came along did I begin to feel that under no circumstances could
1 adopt or recommend or cooperate fully and enthusiastically in the application of
a program that was so obviously the product of third-rate politicians. To adopt and
recommend practices that were ¢ ‘etely in reverse of those that had been establ-
ished as pracicai and correct iy able and careful research authorities, as for
instance Dr. John .. Widstoe and which had been proved correct by good farmers over
a period of twenty five years was something that I could not subscribe to.
The entire Extension Service felt exactly as I did personal integrity is involved.
Perhaps we would do well in such and so after a few years when it appeared that the
Farm Frogram aspect of the New Deal National Program was not going to improve, I sub-
mitted my resiunat-on.
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Effectivae on January 31st. 1942. I had accepted a position with the Franklin County
Sugar Company and reported for work on the morning of February ist, 1942.

R AT 08 ot
785. Franklin County Sugar Company, 1922-1962.
Smoke from the Big Stack is said to be the first in the fall of 1922, opening campaign. '
After many vears of struggle, false starts, litigation and delays. the sugar mill first began slicing beets in October of
1922 Previouslyv, beets were sent to Lewiston. Before that, to Ogden. The first beet contract to a Preston grower was issued
March 24, 1895, Tt was between the Ogden Sugar Co. and Austin Hollingsworth, Earl's father. He contracted to raise two
acres of beets at $3.50 per ton. Signing for the sugar company was Job Pingree. ;
Mu. Hollingsworth, according to the contract, must payv the cost of shipping the beets from Preston to Ogden. A part
of the agrecment read: “Before any beets are received, they must each have the tops closely and squarely cut off at the
base of the Tower or bottom leaft Beets must not weigh over 31, pounds each nor contain less than 12 percent sugar and
must have o purnty co-eflicient of not less than 80 percent.”
History of a \:

dley (1956) stated: “For many vears the plant purchased 75,000 to 100,000 tons of beets vearly, but the'
. ! T N . . e - '
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The Fanklin County Sugar Factory

The criticisms 1 offered were not and mostly because they tried first to

generally of Extension Work (You will
say, why would you, you were 1h Extension
Work). Sometimes the specialists began to
act as if they were either the Director
of Extension or his Assistant and we met
that situation by ignoring what he said
or just didn't do it. I think, for the
most part, the colleges all over the
country accepted and integrated the prov-
isions of the Act rather quickly and
modified it to fit the situations in a
first class manner. It was the New Deal
Farm Programs that provoked my criticisms

initiate a farm program that was a com-
bination of poor theory and extremely bad
practices, and to administer it with one

or the other of two types of individuals;

one, broken down types of political hacks
who had never been successful in any of
their undertakings -- even politics;
second, young fellows only two years out
of kindergarten and they had Tlearned
nothing in those two years.

I did not know when I accepted emp-
Toyment with the Franklin County Sugar
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negotiating for this Michigan property or
not. However, Mr. Thomas Heath came to

Michigan in March of 1942 and the
Caritons purchased the property in April
of that year. Mr, Heath and Mr. Lewis were
in Michigan through April, May, and June
getting the acreage contracted and plant-
ed, and mostly thinnned by early June.
About June 15th, iMr. Heath came back to
Preston to see if | would come go Michigan
as manger of the outfit. He offered me
$5,000.00 with all expeses and a liberal car
allowance. Although

$5,000.00 was a good salary at that time, |
registered a dozen reasons why | should
not come .all of which he talked me out
factories in this eastern area; Michigan,
Ohio, one in Wisconsin and one in Indiana.
All of which had operated some of the
years from 1940 to 1942, Eighteen were
operating when we came here. Fifteen were
operating in 1950 and when we discontinu-
ed operations only nine were operating

and it is quite likely that at least three
others will have been closed down withing
the next five years. Two of the nine were
down two years and would never have
started again except that Great Western
Sugar Company purchased them. One other
was closed down and opened after it was
re~financed. At least three factories that
purchased some very expensive equipof. |
finally agreed to come for two years, and
although | have repeatedly asked to be
transferred or replaced, here | am at
nearly the end of seventeen

years. | arrived here on July 6, 1942,

At the time there were twenty sugar
ment from Franklin County Sugar after
1950 have been closed permanently and one
factory in the extreme north and one in
the exteme south would have bheen closed
except for the fact that when we quit they
picked up in each case about 1200 acres of
excellent beet land which would not have
been available.

Sugar Factoties operating when we came here:

Operating when we quit Operating today

Alma Mich. Alma

Bay City Mich. Bay City
Croswell Mich. Croswell
Lansing

Saginaw Saginaw
Sebewing Sebewing
St. Louis

Mt. Pleasant

Caro Caro
Owassa

Blissfield

Superior

Mt. Clemens

Indiana

Holland

Paulding, OH

Findlay, OH Findlay
Buckeye, OH Buckeye
Green Bay, Wi Green Bay

After having written 50 pages of this
paper and before | go on to a more matur-
ing period of my life in both years and
experience, | must record someth'ing about

Alma
Bay City
Croswell

Saginaw
Sebewing

Caro

Findlay
Buckeye
Green Bay

one of the most thrilling exper-

iences | had ‘ever had up to that time.
Again | found myself moving camp for John
Nebeker, Fred Nutt, a decent sort of fellow
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in many ways, but truly a 'nutt’ in many
ways also. we were grazing the flock of
sheep over an area at the head of Logan
Canyon. Ordinarily we would locate our
camp near a good spring and take our
“"bedroll” on the back of a horse out
where the sheep would likely "bed down”
for the night. There we would find a large
pine tree, trim off some of the smaller
branches, put them on the ground with the
“"bow" up and if we took time to trim a
dozen or so we had created a pretty good
kind of "spring” upon which to make our
bed. On one occasion, | had proceed to
"kill" some time. Fred had said he would
check on the herd and that probably we
would sleep in camp if it appeared that the
herd would get as far as the camp. He said
he would check on the situation but of
course in any event we would eat supper
at camp. As time progressed | built a fire
and proceeded to prepare supper. Every-
thing was moving along satisfactorily. |
was setting in the tent when | heard a
noise which sounded like a dry limb break-
ing. | thought it was Fred and after hav-
ing waited long enough for him to arrive |
walked to the front of the tent and looked
over the side and there probably a hundr-
ed yards away was a black bear in the
process of eating "ants" (Bears love honey,
berries and ants). The bear had made the
noise when he rolled an old piece of rot-
ten tree over (rotten trees harbor nests of
ants).

| went back in the tent and got a 30~
30 rifle and came back to my position near
the front of the tent, however while | was
getting the rifle loaded and otherwise
making ready for my first "bear kill" all of
which had to be done very/ quietly, | came
to the front of the tent and the bear had
moved down to within a few yards of the
tent, he seemed not to have seen the camp
or an open fire upon which | was cooking
supper, but rather he stood broadsides to

me and was looking at our horses which
were grazing in a small opening nearby. |
was at that time probably fourteen years
old. | had grown up with the notion that
the heart was so fatal that to touch it even
with a pin point resulted in sudden death.
We have learned since that some of the
vital parts of the heart may be replaced
and the heart itself may be handled much
the same as if it were putty. In this inst-
ance, | had a choice. Now | realize that |
should have shot him in the brain by
aiming at the spot just behind the ear. |
chose however to shoot him in the ’heart’

‘and aimed therefore at a spot just behind

the front leg. A post mortem showed that
he had been hit squarely in the heart and
yet he ran at least seventy-five yards
before he fell dead. From where | stood to
where he stood when | shot him was exact-
ly thirteen ’boys steps’, probably twenty
five feet. If he had turned on me rather
than to run in the opposite direction |
can’t really imagine what might have hap-
pened.

Accidents

| have had many accidents. Some that
should have proved fatal. On July 24, in
1903, | was racing a horse. He stepped in
a hole and fell. | came up with a dislocated
shoulder. Father could probably have "set
it", but he was not there. A Sister Wahl-
strom tried to set it back into place by
nearly twisting it off and it was killing me.
Her efforts were unsuccessful. At the end
of two days it had swelled up until it was
as large as my head and no one can un-
derstand how painful it was unless they
have experienced that kind of injury. The
nearest doctor was at Montpelier, forty-
five miles away. At the end of the two days
| was loaded into a “Ludlow”, that’s a
’halfbreed’ between a buggy and a wagon
and drawn of course by a team of horses.
it took a good team to cover that distance
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seventy—-five miles north of here, near
Saginaw, and killed all of the people on
board, forty-szeven of them, a terrible
accident indeed. In August, 1936, in Pres—
ton, Idaho and the day following the stag-
ing of a most successful night rodeo, the
committee, of which | was a member, decid-
ed to charter an airplane and fly up to
Yellowstone where we would have dinner
and return during the afternoon. It was
said that a piane could be landed on some
sort or airficid near Meridian. We never
reached that noint. As we flew northward,
along and above the Teton Range, several
of us from time to time rode in the cockpit.
The Teton Rarige is about 13,000 feet eleva-
tion and we were flying at about 14,000
feet. The picture below us was truly one of
grandeur. There is, of

course, ho vegetation at that altitude; for
the most part the terrain was

composed of solid rock with many cup
shaped depressions each holding a tiny
emerald lake of exqguisite beauty. These
with splashes of perpetual snow made the
whole area a thing of beauty. Not until the
airplane cams into existence had man ever
seen any of these places of singular
beauty. As we reached the pass through
the tetons, the pilot steered the plane to
the right and aimost seemed that we pass—
ed a great Teron on either side. The plains
dropped almost straight down for about
700 to 1000 teet according to the estimate
of the pilot. Jennies Lake was below us.
The pilot immediately discovered that one
motor was dead. (It was the right hand
motor and ore of three) and the rudder
had locked. There were not many feet
between us aiid whatever was below.Some-
times it was irees, or Jennies Lake, or bare
side hill, or just places of solid rock as
the pilot measured the plain to make the
best possible landing, and that before we
struck some of these objects. We could
never have rade another circle. The pilot
therefore tock a forced landing on a bare

plateau which was nearly level but covered
with rock and sagebrush. The plane was
titled to about a 30 degree angle and
moving forward at about 90 miles an hour.
The right hand wheel of the landing gear
was the first part of the plane to strike
the ground and be torn off. That permitted
the right wing of the plane to tilt suff-
iciently to strike the ground and it was
torn off and badly splintered. Then, of the
three motors, the one to the extreme right
had doubled up like a pancake, come
around and smashed a hole in the side of
the plane. Aimost every seat was torn loose
from the floor of the plane. Several fellows
were piled up on the floor. We got the door
open, helped them to their feet and every
man got out on his own power. The most
severe damage to anyone was some skinned
shins. Not a man was knocked out.

To reach Burley by train one would
leave the main line of the Union Pacific
going to Portland at American Falls. Mother
had a sister, Leanora Severe, whom she
hadn’t seen for years living at
Burley. | had a notice (I was then a Coun-
ty Agent in Bear Lake County) to attend a
meeting at Gooding, ldaho, which was
situated on the main line of the U.P. and
only about fifteen miles north and west of
Burley. It seemed to me that this provided
a good opportunity to take
mother to Burley where she might visit her
sister. Surely | would have no
difﬁculty in catching a ride from Burley
across country to Gooding. It was in Nov-
ember and the cold November winds were
sweeping across the open spaces in ldaho
as is usually the case. Mother’s nephew
was working in a garage. | went there and
he was working on a fellows car who would
be leaving at about 4 o’clock. | thought
the fellow with who | was to travel was
slightly drunk, but that gave me no
particular concern. We didn’t leave, howev-
er, until about 7:00 P.M. In the meantime, |
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suppose the fellow had a few more beers,
it that was what he was drinking. It was of
course dark by that time, but off we went
in a Model T Ford full of all the holes that
any other Ford had. Before long there
loomed up ahead of us a fellow driving a
norse hitched to a cart and before anyth-
ing was done to stacken our speed we had
hit and demolished the cart, broke the
horses leg and tigped the Ford over. |
came out with a badiy sprained ankle and
no one else was hurt. We had to shoot the
poor horse and since the man who was
driving him accepted $15.00 for damage to
both cart and horse, we probably should
have shot him also. | wanted to say some-
thing, but since | did not want to appear
in court in Burley later as a witness, |
kept still.

In the fall of 1943, Mr. Nichols, Field
Superintendent, and "shorty" our electric—
ian were at Capac where we had installed
a new beet loading device for the purpose
of adjusting and otherwise getting the
dump working in good order. We started on
our return to Mt. Ciemens. We were travel-
ing south on North Avenue and came to a
cross road. There was no signal for us to
stop. There was nowhere a "stop” sign on
the road running east and west. Mr.
Nichols did not see = car coming from the
east at about thirty miles per hour, and if
the driver of the otrer car, a Model T, saw
either the sin or us. he paid no attention
to us and conseguently hit us squarely
“amid ribs”. He had .1 Modal T. We had one
of the heavy Plym: 4 that was our
good fortune, for ;ad hit us going
thirty miies per ‘h a heavy car, |
wouldn’t be writir *he incident. The
calr we were in wa sard enough to
drive the entire bai +s the car until
one could stand in 1ront «i it and see the
chassis full length. The front seat in which
| was sitting was knocked about one foot
out through the front door opening. | was

knocked to the pavement and got up reel-
ing like a drunk man. While down, however,
| heard one fellow who witnessed the
collision at close range say “the guy’s
dead.” | did have two scalp lacerations
that required fourteen stitches to bring
together, bad neck, shoulder and leg
injuries and perhaps lucky to be alive. Mr.
Nichols got three cracked ribs and
“Shorty"”, six or eight facial lacerations. It
cost $722.00 to repair the car and believe
it or not cost were not as high in 1943 as
they are in 1958.

In 1898 | was the victim of a very
serious accident involving a vital organ.
(He fost an eye). It is altogether possible
that the same kind of injury today could
be repaired without leaving any bad effect.
Even in that day had | been taken to a
physician in Salt Lake it might have been
possible to have had the injury taken care
of satisfactorily, but Salt Lake was a hun-
dred fifty miles away. That was a long way
by team over a very poor road, and as |
remember it was early spring which would
have affected the whole matter adversely.
Nothing was done, but | blame no one. This
injury, however, has always been the
source of inconvenience. It has been at
times embarrassing and it has definitely
been a handicap. | still want to go on
record as being ,
grateful that it was no worse and | am
particularly grateful that it didn’t affect
my choice in some important
matters. As for instance, suppose at age
twenty—-five, without any high school or
college training and after | had been told
it would require seven years to get a
college degree, | had permitted this injury
to deter me from going to school.

Our friend, Bill Shakespeare says, "All
the world’s a stage and all the men and
women merely actors; Each has his entr-
ance and his exit.” | don’t know where Bill
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thought that would apply in his particular
writing, but since a poet need not speak
the truth or bridle his imagination, | sup-
pose his use of the metaphor is all right.
He also said that "the fool wore precious
jewels- on his head.” | will not go along
with Bill on that. If the fool wears precious
jewels on his head, why don’t we have
some ? In order that you might not get
entirely away from "that something in the
"West” that no one has ever been able to
explain, | call your attention to the follow—-
ing rhyme that | penned as | approached
the "Rockies on my way west by rail some
years ago.

Oh rugged rountains tall and grand.
Silhouetted against the sky you stand.
Your snow capped summits gleaming white.
Spread gentia shadows through the night.
Upon a peaceful land.

Here people iive and work and play.

And nature with a tuneful lay.

Brings solace at the close of day.
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